Technical Report

No 1

Assessment of Data on the Effects of Formaldehyde on Humans

ISSN-0773-8072-1

Technical Report

Nº 1

ASSESSMENT OF DATA
ON THE EFFECTS OF
FORMALDEHYDE ON HUMANS

ASSESSMENT OF DATA ON THE EFFECTS OF FORMALDEHYDE

ON HUMANS

CONTENTS

- A. Scope and Objectives
- B. Conditions of Human Exposure
- C. Epidemiological Studies
- D. Evidence of Adverse Human Effects
- E. Possible Effects of Bis-chloromethyl Ether
- F. Conclusions
- G. Recommendations
 - Appendix A: Summary of Uses of Formaldehyde Appendix B: Exposure Limits in the Workroom
 - Environment
 - Appendix C: Exposure Measurements of Formaldehyde
 - in the Air, and Biological Monitoring
 - Appendix D: Formaldehyde Mortality Studies -
 - A Review
 - Appendix E: Responses of Man to Various
 - Concentrations of Formaldehyde Vapours.
- H. Bibliography
- I. Members of the Working Group
- J. Members of ECETOC Scientific Committee

A. SCOPE AND OBJECTIVES

Recent animal experiments at the Chemical Industry Institute of Toxicology (USA) have shown that formaldehyde causes gross destruction of the nasal epithelium, and provokes squamous cell carcinomas in the nose of rats exposed to 6 and 15 ppm, and in mice exposed to 15 ppm (1). There is apparently no evidence of damaged lung tissue at the levels of exposure studied. Epithelial damage of the nose is followed by increased tissue regeneration, hyperplasia, metaplasia and in some cases neoplasia. Data from animals maintained for 3 months after the 24-month exposure period showed some evidence of regression of the epithelial dysplasia and hyperplasia. Recovery in rats occurred in the 6 ppm group and in mice in the 15 ppm group.

The question therefore arises - is formaldehyde a carcinogen for man, and if so under what circumstances? ECETOC in its Monograph n°2 (2) has defined a Proven Human Chemical Carcinogen as "a substance for which a causal relationship has been established between previous exposure and the occurrence of malignant neoplasms in man". To classify the status of formal-dehyde it was thus vital to review the evidence available concerning the effects of formaldehyde on humans. An ECETOC Formaldehyde Human Exposure Working Group (see list of members in I) was therefore set up to determine what studies relating human exposure to formaldehyde with possible carcinogenic effects have been done in the past, are underway, or are planned for the future, and to make recommendations for any further studies necessary to clarify the above relationship.

As the animal experiments showed an effect of formaldehyde only in the nasal epithelium, it was important to search for human epidemiological studies which could have shown similar effects in the nose of man, and of course any effects on the respiratory tract had also to be considered.

For an assessment of the health effects of formaldehyde on man about 200 or so papers were studied and evaluated. Only 66 were of sufficient scientific relevance to be further considered. In the study of the potential carcinogenicity of formaldehyde the possible formation of bischloromethyl ether (BCME) is a confusing but relevant factor, since formaldehyde can react with hydrochloric acid to yield the carcinogen BCME. The question is whether BCME can be formed from formaldehyde and hydrochloric acid at concentrations comparable with the occupational exposure levels.

Because of limitations in the epidemiological data presently available, the working group has made some recommendations for future work.

B. CONDITIONS OF HUMAN EXPOSURE

Formaldehyde is a normal metabolite of the cell, and participates in the one-carbon pool. It is readily oxidized to formic acid. Numerous enzymes catalyzing this reaction have been identified in liver preparations and erythrocytes (3). In the earth's atmosphere the photochemical oxidation of methane is known to be a major source of formaldehyde.

Formaldehyde was discovered in 1859. In 1888 formaldehyde was introduced as a disinfectant. This means that for about 100 years people have been exposed to man-made formaldehyde. At present, formaldehyde is a significant commodity chemical, with a worldwide consumption of about 5 million tons annually. The major production route as well as the main uses are described in Appendix A.

Unfortunately only a very few reports of health effects of formaldehyde on humans provide information about the ambient air-concentration. It is therefore difficult to establish a clear dose-response relationship for the effects on humans. The following data, recorded in the literature may however give a reasonable estimate of the concentrations to which men have been exposed in certain circumstances.

Sources of exposure of the public to formaldehyde include cigarette smoke, automotive exhaust, photochemical smog, incinerators, and release from urea-formaldehyde products. Automotive exhausts have been reported to contain formaldehyde in the range of 29-43 ppm (4). Outdoor-air in Los Angeles, as a result of photochemical smog formation, contained formaldehyde at 0.05 - 0.12 ppm over the course of 26 days of measurement (5). Approximately 13% of the daily maxima exceeded 0.1 ppm, and the highest measured concentration was 0.16 ppm.

Cigarette smoke contains as much as 40 ppm of formaldehyde by volume and it has been reported (6,7) that when 5 cigarettes were smoked in a 30 m³ climatic chamber the concentration of formaldehyde reached 0.23 ppm (8).

Inside buildings, one of the possible sources of formal-dehyde is the particle board used in furnishing, fixtures and fittings. Although in time the concentration decreases, the levels of formaldehyde in new flats in Denmark (9) and German schools (10) were occasionally found to be 0.35 - 0.59 ppm and 0.3 - 0.9 ppm respectively.

In America there has been a large number of complaints claimed to involve formaldehyde arising from the plywood and particle-board of mobile homes (11).

The use of urea-formaldehyde foam for thermal insulation is another potential source of formaldehyde, especially when not properly installed. Thus, in certain apartments in Chicago urea-formaldehyde insulation was, responsible for room air concentrations of between 0.8 and 0.95 ppm of formaldehyde (11).

A review of the regulatory guidance on permitted workplace levels in different countries shows that exposure limits vary between 1 and 5 ppm in 1980 (see Appendix B). In Germany (BRD) the time-weighted-average standard (MAK) was reduced from 5 ppm to 1 ppm in 1971. While the time-weighted-average standard for the UK was still 10 ppm in 1946, it was

reduced to 5 ppm in 1948. In 1963, 5 ppm was taken as a ceiling limit, and this was lowered in 1973 to 2 ppm.

Over the 100 years of exposure to formaldehyde there seems no doubt that some people were exposed to levels significantly higher than the present atmospheric limit values.

Medical personnel have historically been extensively exposed to formaldehyde, but few data exist about the present levels. It was reported that in the dissecting rooms of two German University Medical Schools, where human bodies were treated with formaldehyde, the air concentrations of formaldehyde varied between 0.31 and 1 ppm in one school (12) and between 0.31 and 0.57 ppm in a second school (13). Formaldehyde levels were also measured in German clinics and institutes, and 42 samples of air containing formaldehyde were examined. Only four of fifteen samples of room air containing formaldehyde were found to be statistically below the target level of 0.1 ppm viewed from the aspect of hospital hygiene. The remaining eleven samples were in the control range i.e. 0.025 ppm and 0.25 ppm. Ten out of seventeen samples of room air containing formaldehyde, taken from working places in hospitals and institutes, exceeded statistically the maximum working place concentration of 1.00 ppm, whereas the remaining seven varied at random between 0.25 and 2.5 ppm (14).

In Appendix C, methods are listed for the measurement of formaldehyde concentrations in air, and for biological monitoring.

C. EPIDEMIOLOGICAL STUDIES

A review of morbidity and mortality studies is given in Appendix D. Those epidemiology studies which are now terminated did not identify one single case of nasal cancer. The respiratory-tract cancer rate was not different from the rate in the general population.

Dr. Matanoski (15) reported an excess of primary liver cancer and lung cancer in pathologists when compared with radiologists. Oral and pharyngeal cancers were lower in the pathologists, who were more likely to be exposed to formaldehyde than were radiologists. The study was not originally planned for the detection of formaldehyde-induced effects.

Although not published, the following information which was presented at the Nov. 1980, CIIT Formaldehyde Toxicity Conference is of importance (1).

- J. Walrath performed a proportional mortality analysis of 1,106 deceased morticians. These were exposed between 1902 and 1979 to embalming liquids which apart from formaldehyde contain a variety of chemicals such as phenol, arsenic, creosote, etc. The overall proportional mortality rate for all cancers wanot significantly different from the US male population. As in all epidemiological studies there did appear to be an increased incidence of certain disease processes. In this group there was an increased incidence of skin, brain and kidney cancers but there was no proportionate excess of deaths from respiratory cancer, and no deaths from cancers of the nose or nasal sinuses were observed.
- Dr. Marsh (Pittsburgh-University) studied 2500 formaldehyde workers and found no nasal cancers and no dose-response relationship between formaldehyde exposure and respiratory and other cancer. Mortality rates for formaldehyde exposed workers were "generally similar to those for unexposed workers".
- Dr. Wong of TOMA studied 2,026 workers at the largest U.S. formaldehyde manufacturing plant and found no nasal cancers nor any excess of respiratory cancer. Of the 136 deaths reviewed in this study, 4 deaths were attributed to cancer of the prostate when 1.36 were expected from the national average. He concluded that the overall mortality of workers potentially exposed to formaldehyde was less than expected.

Dr. Jensen of the Danish Cancer Institute (16) has reported that during the "period 1943-76 three cases of cancer in nasal cavities, sinuses and nasopharynx were notified among Danish doctors. None of these people had ever worked in a pathology department or as an anatomist. The author concludes that "Although of limited significance, this report indicates that the carcinogenic risk of formaldehyde to man, if there is one, is not likely to be important".

It should also be stressed that nasal cancer is a rather rare type of tumour. Informal data suggest that in the United Kingdom 140 cases of nasal and related cancer deaths per year are recorded. The results of a case-control study on 1,000 nasal cancers in the period of 1965 to 1970 is being prepared for publication by Prof. Acheson (Univ. Southampton, UK).

It should be noted that the exposure levels were not precisely quantified in any of the reported epidemiological studies. Large cohort studies are going on in the United States and Europe according to better-defined protocols.

The total number of reported cases of formaldehyde-associated asthma appears to be small, and (if factual) the cause of bronchospasm remains uncertain (25). Formaldehyde comes under suspicion as a possible promotor of bronchospasm since it is a known skin-sensitising agent, and some experts believe that a material which has this effect on the epithelium of skin will act in a similar manner if it comes into contact with pulmonary epithelium. As an irritant, formaldehyde may cause its bronchoconstrictive effects by initiating release of histamine from mast cells in the lungs, or merely by stimulating irritant receptors which in turn cause a sequential response in the bronchial tree (26).

Whether the occurrence of bronchospasm is the result of an immune reaction, or of a deeper penetration of formaldehyde in the respiratory tract, is at present not clear. However, the adverse effects of low-molecular-weight compounds in general is poorly understood. Animal studies have shown that formaldehyde does not penetrate in the lower regions (1). At this point it should be emphasised that man, contrary to the rat, may breathe through his mouth as well as through the nose.

The variable responses of people to formaldehyde, as observed in industry and the home, indicate that some groups of people may be more susceptible to formaldehyde than others.

2. SKIN EFFECTS OF FORMALDEHYDE

In the literature, formaldehyde is mainly associated with effects on the skin. Contact with weak solutions may cause allergic contact dermatitis, and eczematous lesions appear on exposed areas.

It is a skin irritant and sensitiser (27). Strong, irritating solutions on the skin coagulate the protein and produce necrosis. Although sensitisation occurs mainly through contact with solutions of formaldehyde, contact of exposed areas of the skin with formaldehyde vapours may also be a cause of a sensitising reaction

There are reports from the USA that families exposed to formaldehyde in the home have experienced numerous complaints of the upper respiratory tract, gastro intestinal tract and central nervous system (e.g. headaches) (22). These symptoms appear to differ from known industrial experience where some habituation and job selection can occur.

Formaldehyde at levels of $0.3 - 2.00 \text{ mg/m}^3$ caused no change in airway resistance in 16 healthy male subjects. There was however some reduction of mucous secretion and reduced ciliary activity in the mucous membrane of the nasal tract (23). Of these 16 healthy young men voluntarily exposed for 5 hr. to formaldehyde, 3 complained at 0.3 mg/m^3 , 5 at 0.5 mg/m^3 , 15 at 1.0 mg/m^3 and 15 at 2.0 mg/m^3 , mainly about conjunctival irritation and dryness in the nose and throat.

It has been reported (24) that some workers from a cohort of 200 exposed to formaldehyde for 1 to 15 years, at levels which could be higher than the present UK TLV of 2 ppm have occasionally experienced slight nose bleeding. As these workers were specifically encouraged to report this effect it is difficult to know whether the number of cases is statistically higher than in other groups of workers who may not have reported nose bleeding.

There are a number of references in the literature to adverse respiratory symptoms believed to be associated with formaldehyde. The cases are mostly vaguely described as bronchospasm. The exposure levels are not given in detail, but are reported as "high and prolonged".

A report from Eastern Europe states that no grave health problems were found in a group of formaldehyde workers exposed to levels of 5 ppm, but in one subject pulmonary challenge with acety-choline showed a positive bronchoconstrictive response.

0.

ECETOC

The present available data do not show any evidence that formaldehyde is "a proven human chemical carcinogen" (ECETOC Definition (2)).

D. EVIDENCE OF ADVERSE HUMAN EFFECTS

The epidemiological evidence concerning the carcinogenicity of formaldehyde to man, provides no proof of a causal relationship between previous exposure and the occurrence of malignant neoplasms in man. However, recent evidence has emerged which links exposure to formaldehyde with nasal tumours in rats and mice. In this case it is provisionally believed that irritation of, and then damage to, epithelial cells is a prerequisite for tumour development. When the detailed animal study results are available, it will be necessary to assess what significance they have for man.

Evidence about toxic effects other than carcinogenicity is therefore surveyed by the WG in this section, because such evidence may clarify the situation.

In the general literature survey, special attention was given to the irritant effects in the respiratory tract. To get an overall toxicological profile, other health effects were also surveyed. An extensive literature survey and assessment is given in a US National Academy of Science report, March 1980. (17)

1. RESPIRATORY EFFECTS OF FORMALDEHYDE

Formaldehyde causes irritation of the upper respiratory tract and eyes. There is considerable variability in the levels at which effects have been reported (see Appendix E).

Estimations of the irritant threshold vary from 0.13 (18) to 1-2 ppm (19). Fassett (20) says that mild irritation of the upper respiratory tract occurs after 8 hr. exposure to 2-3 ppm, and Walker (21) gives 5 ppm as the throat-irritation threshold.

9.

) ":

Allergic dermatitis is confirmed by positive patch-test reactions to formaldehyde (2% solutions) (28). Formaldehyde sensitisation has been observed in association with the use of formaldehyde-based glues and disinfection procedures, and has been reported in the resin-finished textile industry, the formaldehyde-based plastics industry, the paper and wood industry, pathology laboratories and under nearly all professional or non-professional exposure conditions.

Skin effects were reported in the literature as early as 1926 (29), and thus awareness of possible effects of formal-dehyde on the skin spread internationally early in this century. Despite extensive observations in all countries, and many different sectors of industry where formaldehyde exposure has occurred, there has been no evidence of cancer induction in the exposed skin.

J. Walrath ((1) and Appendix D) in her NCI study found four skin cancers in the face and neck in a group cohort of 1,106

New York morticians who were exposed to formaldehyde, phenol, arsenic, creosote etc. Two skin cancers were expected, but the excess of two cases was attributed to some aspect of life-style rather than occupational exposure.

3. OTHER HEALTH EFFECTS OF FORMALDEHYDE

Formaldehyde is a metabolite normally occurring in the human body, and it participates in the one carbon pool. The lethal dose by mouth has been estimated at 30-60 ml of a 37% solution. Death has occurred from 30 ml, and recovery has occurred after 120 ml ingestion (30). Poisoning is rapid in onset. The signs and symptoms are those of many corrosives, and include necrotic gastritis, depression of the central nervous system, pallor, cyanosis, collapse, vertigo, headache, respiratory failure, renal damage, anuria, acidosis, coma and death (31) (32) (33) (34) (35).

Electroencephalogram changes have been reported (36) with exposure to very low concentrations in air (0.04 ppm), and electrocardiogram changes with concentrations of 0.8 ppm (37). Helwig (38) says that electroencephalogram changes are inexplicable and not due entirely to formaldehyde.

Tests on 12 men exposed to 13.8 ppm for thirty minutes, showed no significant variation in blood pressure, pulse rate, respiratory rates, electro-cardiograph tracings or auscultatory screens (39).

Estimations of the odour threshold vary from 0.06 ppm (40) to 1 ppm (20). Dark adaptation is said to be affected by levels of 0.7 ppm (40). No effect on visual acuity, depth perception peripheral vision, accomodation, fixation, or colour vision was found in 83 workers exposed to 0.4 ppm (41).

Differences in skin temperature on opposite sides of the body are said to be affected by exposure to formaldehyde (42). The significance of this is not clear.

Many Russian authors report menstrual disturbances in female workers (in a multitude of occupations) but many authorities feel this is not surprising considering the heavy manual work some of these women perform. Schulmilina (43) suggests that exposure to urea-formaldehyde resin increases menstrual disturbance, pregnancy complications and the proportion of underweight children. As exposure to formaldehyde was only one of the parameters, no direct correlation can be established between the observed effects and formaldehyde exposure.

No evidence was found to suggest that formaldehyde caused abortion or miscarriage (22), or that it was teratogenic in humans.

ECETOC 11.

Neshkov and Nosko (44) reported a high incidence of sexual dysfunction amongst males producing glass-fibre-reinforced plastic. However, most of the complaints were psychogenic and the men were exposed to many chemicals other than formaldehyde.

It should be emphasised that no information is given about the analytical methods used to obtain the Russian concentration data (cf sensitivity of the latest analytical methods in AppendixC).

In Appendix E the responses of man to various concentrations of formaldehyde vapour are summarized. The above assessment of the data available on the effects of formaldehyde on man gives no indication that the irritant effect, resulting from formaldehyde exposure, gives rise to malignant or benign tumour development in the respiratory tract. It should however be noted that so far no studies have been performed where the existence of metaplasia in the nose cavity of man was specifically sought.

E. POSSIBLE EFFECTS OF BIS-CHLOROMETHYL ETHER (BCME)

S.Z.M. Travenius (45) has stated that it is possible that the key to the carcinogenicity of formaldehyde in animals could be found (at least partly) in the formation of BCME. The main question is: can BCME originate from formaldehyde and hydrochloric acid at concentrations comparable with the threshold limit values; and can the carcinogenic action of formaldehyde be attributed to BCME formed at the same time. There is biological and chemical evidence that BCME does not play a major role in animal studies of the carcinogenicity of formaldehyde.

1. CHEMICAL INVESTIGATIONS

Because detection of BCME in air at below 0.1 ppb is not well established, research on the reaction was carried out at relatively high concentrations of the reactants (20 -10,000 ppm) (45) (46). It was thought that on the basis of kinetics and equilibria, the experimental results could be extrapolated to lower concentrations of reactants. However, the study of the kinetics and equilibrium of BCME formation has been made difficult by the polymerization of formaldehyde and other phenomena, difficult to understand. So it is impossible to calculate the chemical equilibrium constant from the experimental results in order to predict BCME-concentrations at low levels of hydrochloric acid and formaldehyde. To avoid these problems, the formation of BCME should by preference be measured at concentrations of formaldehyde (CH20) and hydrochloric acid(HC1), which are equal or close to industrially-occurring concentrations.

Nevertheless, it is attractive to get an idea of the BCME-concentrations to be expected at low reactant concentrations. For this purpose the WG tried to derive a mathematical expression of the data of Frankel et al (46) by linear regression analysis. The following relation was obtained between the formaldehyde and hydrochloric acid concentration on the one hand and the BCME-concentration on the other:

$$[BCME] = 0.005[CH_2 0]^{0.73}[HCL]^{0.73}$$

This means, that a concentration of 2 ppm formaldehyde and 5 ppm hydrochloric acid would result in an average concentration of about 0.026 ppb of BCME. It should however be taken into account, that the relative humidity should be less than 100%.

The calculated concentration of 0.026 ppb is about 40 times smaller than the present TLV of BCME.

In the particle board and plywood industry, where formaldehyde and chloride-containing glues and resins are cured at elevated temperature, the evolved superheated steam will prevent the emission of BCME. Van der Ven and Venema (47) showed that when the vapour from glue heated during the manufacture of particle-board, was cooled and led through a Tenax-GC adsorption tube, the BCME decomposed. The BCME used as an internal standard was also decomposed in the adsorption tube by the released vapours.

Van der Ven and Venema (47) also tried to determine BCME in workroom air by the same method. The detection limit was 0·3 ppb and the internal standard of BCME in the adsorption tube was not decomposed by sucking workroom air through the tube. No BCME could be detected in workroom air.

2. BIOLOGICAL STUDIES

Reports are available about the carcinogenic effects in experimental animals exposed to BCME on the one hand, and to formaldehyde, or formaldehyde and hydrochloric acid, on the other. Exposure of Sprague-Dawley rats to 10.6 ppm of hydrochloric acid and 14.6 ppm of formaldehyde (6 hrs/day, 5 days/week ±530 exposures over 814 days) induced an incidence of 25% of squamous cell carcinoma in the nasal cavity, but no tumours in the lung as would be expected from BCME (48). These results should be compared with the results given at the latest CIIT Conference (1) (49) on the exposure of rats to 2,6 and 15 ppm of formaldehyde.

BCME itself, however, shows the following picture of carcinogenicity. Male Sprague-Dawley rats were subjected to 4, 8, 12, 16 and 20 weeks exposure to 0. ppm of BCME (6 hrs/day, 5 days/week). In the nose 17 esthusioneuro-epitheliomas, 1 ganglioneuro-epithelioma, 5 unclassified tumours, 1 adenocarcinoma and only one squamous cell carcinoma were found in 170 treated animals. In addition 13 squamous cell carcinomas and 1 adeno-carcinoma were found in the lungs. In the control animals only one adeno-carcinoma was detected in the nasal cavity (50).

From this we may conclude that BCME-exposure induced a different carcinogenic effect from that found on exposure to formaldehyde, or to hydrochloric acid and formaldehyde at the same time. It therefore seems improbable that the carcinogenic effect induced by simultaneous exposure to formaldehyde and hydrochloric acid was caused by BCME, originating from these two chemicals. In addition, the BCME-concentration was measured in this rat experiment by Rusch (48) and amounted to about 0.1 ppb.

F. CONCLUSIONS

- 1. Formaldehyde is a natural metabolite in man and is normally present in the environment.
- 2. Although formaldehyde has been manufactured for almost 100 years, available epidemiological data do not indicate any causal relationship between previous exposure to formaldehyde and the occurrence of malignant neoplasms in man. In none of the studies were exposure concentrations welldefined, but it can be supposed that in the past men have been exposed to higher concentrations than the present limit values.

- 3. Adverse clinical symptoms (affecting eyes, lungs and skin) have been recognised for many years, but they were never associated with malignant degeneration and their magnitude was not comparable with the effects observed in long-term animal studies.
- 4. At the present, normally-existing, formaldehyde and hydrochloric acid levels in the atmosphere, bis-chloromethyl ether (BCME) will not be formed in an amount sufficient to pose a carcinogenic hazard.

G. RECOMMENDATIONS

Although no ultimate proof exists for non-carcinogenicity, recommendations can be made to give more weight to the preceding conclusions and/or to decrease the other health effects which may appear when people are exposed to formaldehyde.

- 1. To make future epidemiological studies valuable, exact information on the formaldehyde levels in the environment and in the workroom is necessary.
- 2. More data from extensive retrospective and prospective epidemiological studies on well-defined occupational and environmental cohorts should be acquired. Results with cohorts of tens-of-thousands would provide evidence of the validity or non-validity of results obtained from mathematical model extrapolations from animal data in the CIIT study.
- Case control studies for nasal cancers should be performed where a correlation should be looked for with formaldehyde exposure.
- 4. Chemical companies and pathologists societies should be encouraged to publish or make available any evidence about the possible carcinogenic action of formaldehyde in occupational conditions.
- For those exposed to occupational formaldehyde a relevant personal monitoring system should be developed.

- 6. The number of people who are occupationally-exposed should be monitored.
- 7. Consideration should be given to expanding the knowledge of the breathing behaviour of man, and the physiology and pathology of the nasal tissue in people exposed to formal-dehyde, preferably with non-invasive techniques.

APPENDIX A - SUMMARY OF USES OF FORMALDEHYDE

Formaldehyde is produced in industry by the catalytic oxidation of methanol. It is marketed mainly in the form of aqueous solutions, partly under the common name of "formalin", normally containing 30% to 50% formaldehyde by weight.

Three main reactions characterise its uses, i.e. self-polymerization, oxidation-reduction and addition-condensation, chiefly with organic compounds.

The major use of formaldehyde is in the synthetic resin industry, in the production of urea -, phenolic -, polyacetal -, and melamine-formaldehyde resins, and in the manufacture of penta-erythritol and hexamethylene-tetramine.

Over half of the formaldehyde produced is used in the manufacture of urea-formaldehyde and phenol-formaldehyde resin. The former is, among other uses, applied as a foam for thermal insulation. The hardening and drying of the resin lasts up to 48 hours.

There are formaldehyde applications in a wide variety of industries, e.g. in the wood, plywood and particle board industry; in paper , textile , and dyestuffs manufacture; soil and seed treatment in agriculture to destroy micro-organisms; as a powerful bactericide, fungicide and fumigant; in medicine and analytical chemistry.

In medicine, formaldehyde solutions have been used for disinfection of the skin, for the treatment of warts on the palms of the hands and soles of the feet, in mouth-washes as an antiseptic, in dentistry for the treatment of pulp tissue and septic root canals, and in hospitals for the disinfection of rooms, blankets and bedding. Formaldehyde is also a component of cosmetics such as antiperspirants, shampoos, etc.

APPENDIX B - EXPOSURE LIMITS IN THE WORKROOM ENVIRONMENT

	AFFERDIX B				
	Europe BELGIUM	<u>ppm</u>	mg/m³		
	TLV (1976)	2 (ceiling)	3 (ceiling)		
	BRD (GERMANY)				
	MAK. (1971)	1 (ceiling)	1.2 (ceiling)		
	CSSR				
	TLV (1976)	1 • 7	2		
	DDR (GERMANY)				
	MAK (1976)	2	3		
	DENMARK				
	TLV (1979)	1 0.3	1 • 2		
	proposal for (1983) proposal for new plants (1982) FINLAND	0.3	0 • 4		
		o (ocilina)	3 (ceiling)		
	TLV (1976)	2 (ceiling)			
į.	FRANCE				
	TLV (1977) No own standard US- and USSR sta	i, oriented towards andards.			
	HOLLAND				
	MAC (1976)	2 (ceiling)	3 (ceiling)		
	ITALY				
	TLV (Hygiene) (1976) TLV (ENPI) (1976)	1.25	1.5		
	NORWAY		1.2		
	TLV	1			
	SWEDEN				
	LV (1979)	1 (ceiling) 0.5	1.2 (ceiling) 0.6		
	proposal for new plants SWITZERLAND	•			
	MAC (1976)	1 (ceiling)	1.2 (ceiling)		
	UNITED KINGDOM		((((((((((((((((((((
	TLV	2 (ceiling)	2.5 (ceiling)		
	USSR				
	TLV (1976)	0.42 (ceiling)	0.5 (ceiling)		
	Outside Europe				
	JAPAN				
	TLV (1976)	5	6		
	USA				
	OSHA Federal Standard:TWA (1974)		36; 6 (ceiling)		
		10 (ceiling for once day up to 30').	a 12 (ceiling for once a day up to 30').		
	NIOSH: TWA (1976 recommended)	1	1.2		
	ACGIH : TWA (1973)	2(ceiling)	3 (ceiling)		

APPENDIX C 1: EXPOSURE MEASUREMENTS OF FORMALDEHYDE IN THE AIR.

The measurement of formaldehyde by personal sampling, the preferred way of measurement for checking compliance with exposure standards, has not been practicised because no solid adsorbent exists with appropriate adsorption and desorption characteristics for measuring formaldehyde or its oxidation product formic acid.

All methods follow the same way of sampling. Air is sucked through a washing bottle, or an impinger, filled with an absorption liquid. After sampling, a colouring reagent is added and after a stable colour has been formed the absorbance is measured in a spectrophotometer or in a colourimeter at an appropriate wavelength. The method based on chromotropic acid (di-sodium-4,5-dihydroxy-2,7-naphthalenedisulphonic acid) as colouring agent, is most frequently mentioned in the scientific literature (51). Otherwise, the method with pararosaniline -tris-(4-amino-benzyl)-carbinol as colouring agent is used (52). Both methods have the advantage of being sufficiently specific for formal-dehyde. The two methods are reliable only if carried out by experienced analysts.

A third method, with MBTH (3-methyl-2-benzothiazolon-hydrazon hydrochloride) as a colouring reagent, has the same sensitivity or better than the afore-mentioned methods and is easier to carry out (53). The reagent solutions are more stable and no special experience of the analyst is required. However, the disadvantage is its lower specificity, since other aldehydes are also determined, and aromatic amines and halogens interfere by increasing the absorbance. However, the MBTH-method is useful, fast and reliable if no other aldehydes and interfering compounds are expected to be present. These conditions are often met in formaldehyde-containing resin, glue and particle board manufacturing plants.

If compounds interfering with the MBTH-method are present, the pararosaniline or chromotropic acid method should be used. The choice of method should be made on the grounds of the available experience of the analyst.

The sensitivity of the above three methods is about the same. It depends on the amount of sampled air and the volume of the sampling liquid. Concentrations of 10μ g/m³ (0.008 ppm) can be reliably determined.

Many other methods are reported in the literature, but they lack the sensitivity and (apart from the MBTH-method) the specificity of the afore-mentioned methods.

RECOMMENDATION FOR MEASUREMENT STRATEGY

In view of the current concern about the animal carcinogenicity results, it is worthwhile to survey the time-weightedaverage concentrations in formaldehyde processing industries to gain better information of actual personal and not merely to check compliance with the present exposure standards. It is recommended to carry out measurements for determining formaldehyde concentrations starting from 0.1 ppm (= 120kg/m³). A minimum number of four measurements is recommended for every group of workers who have an approximately similar exposure. The method of sampling should, by preference, be personal and not local. Because only sampling methods with absorption of the formaldehyde into liquid are available, the use of spill-proof micro-impingers as described by Linch(54) is recommended. A battery-powered portable pump forces the sample air into the impinger and makes it possible to take time-weighted-average samples by personal monitoring.

2. EXPOSURE MEASUREMENTS OF FORMALDEHYDE BY BIOLOGICAL MONITORING METHODS.

An alternative approach to the assessment of exposure to industrial chemicals is available in the form of biological monitoring methods (55), which are already widely applied in the fields of Occupational Medicine and Industrial Toxicology. One such method is the measurement of formaldehyde level in blood, which has been used to monitor occupational exposure to formaldehyde. Workers exposed at air concentrations of $\frac{1}{2}$ 5.8 ppm showed blood levels of 0.6-4 mg/1 (56).

lack icity

S 7 .

ŗ. ..

97

(ma

A more promising indicator of the exposure is determination of the urinary level of formic acid, a metabolic oxidation product of formaldehyde. It is an endogenous substance, being formed by the degradation of glycine (57). The elimination of formic acid is exponential in time and work has been carried out in a wide range of laboratory animals (58). In a study of humans (12) professionally exposed to formaldehyde at 0.93 - 1.19 ppm during an 8 hour period, the formic acid concentrations measured in urine showed increased levels (factors between 3 and 7) compared with 3 mg% in controls (59). Similar urinary formic acid levels were determined among workers who were exposed to formaldehyde at between 0.2 and 1.0 ppm at their work place (60). However, these results could not be confirmed by another research group (13) perhaps because of lower formaldehyde concentrations (0.32 - 0.57 ppm)and shorter (3h) exposure time of the individuals.

The urinary level of formic acid is measurable by gas chromatography (55) (57). Its modification in the form of headspace analysis enables the analysis of a score or more urine samples in the one batch (61). Formic acid and an internal standard, propionic acid, are extracted from acidified urine into ethyl acetate. The compounds are esterified with phenyldiazomethane reagent and analysed as the benzyl esters by flame-ionization gas chromatography.

Normal urine contains an average of 17 mg/l formic acid. Formic acid is a metabolite of methanol, formic acid esters and certain halogenated methane derivatives, as well as formaldehyde. Normal urine constituents do not interfere with the assay.

./.

APPENDIX D - FORMALDEHYDE MORTALITY STUDIES - A REVIEW

PMR - Proportionate Mortality Ratios

SMR - Standardised Mortality Ratios

Oderljunga population no excess respiratory billity of liver and cancer mortality, no No excess in cancer estimated, high and no excess in cancer increased risks for lymphoma and possilow exposure groups mortality; no nasal start 1981 mortality; no nasal similar to that of mortality pattern pancreas cancers nasal cancers Results progress in progress start 1981 cancer. cancer. ble individual exposure in ments and if possiworkplace measureestimated, but estimated, but not given in ppm. estimated but not Exposure given in ppm given in ppm levels not known not known not between 1914 & 1967 embalmers licensed > 15 years licensed between Exposure period technologists 区61-0561 1940-1977 1947 & 1967 5 to 8,000 formaldehyde medical technologists embalmers (New York) embalmers (Ontario) Perstorp population 2,500 Formaldehyde 2,026 Formaldehyde Workers (Mass) 1,200 persons (California) 1,106 persons Population 8,000 persons pathologists workers workers (pers. communication) (pers. communication) Johns Hopkins Univ. Matonoski (1) Investigator (reference) Pittsburgh Univ. (G. Marsch) (1) J. Walrath (I) Prof. Acheson Institute/NCI Formaldehyde CIA-HIST-UK 0. Wong (1) Perstorp CIIT NCI NCI TOMA Type of study PMR **PMR** SMR PMR SMR SMR PMR SMR SMR

FORMALDERYDE MORBIDITY STUDIES - A REVIEW

ntinued)
D co
(Appendix

Exposure Results	in progress	in- progress	Q3 to 1.77 Most commonly reported complaints were eye and respiratory irritation	not known in progress	mean:1.5ppm interim results : eye, (range: 0 - nose, throat, irritation 10 ppm) headaches	О to 0.15ppm (max.: 2ppm)	0.1 to 3.0ppm Eye, nose, throat irri- tation, headaches. Disr- rhea for newborn infants	increased incidence of dermatitis	as bossey emposures with a without related respira-
Exposure period	home insulated within last 6 months (as of March 1979)							l to 15 years	EVA 3 of a
Population	residents of insu- lated homes	mobile home rest- dents (65 mobile homes)	mobile home residents (334 mobile homes)	300 mobile home residents	residents of insu- lated homes	residents of insu- lated homes, busi- nesses, schools		workers (200)	CHOINAY :001
Investigator	le:	Wisc.Dept.Hlth & Soc. Serv.	Univ.Washington	Oregon Dept.Dis. Monit.Control	Connect.Dept. Hith Serv.	NII Bur. Occup. Health	Univ.Minnesota	Ciba-Geigy (Duxford)	CIN ESCHÜGER
Type of study	Morbidity	Morbidity	Morbidity	Morbidity	Morbidity	Morbidity	Morbidity	Morbidity	Morbidity

APPENDIX E - RES	MAN 'TO VAR	CONCENTRATIONS OF FORMALDENERS VAROUR without with the services of the service	symptomate his toty disease er related trabitist
Concentration ppm	Exposure Time	Response	
-		Eye irritation threshold	(62)
70.0		E.E.G. changes	(36)
90 0		Odour threshold	(07)
90.0		Odour threshold in 7 out of 15 test	(37)
0.00		subjects Chronaximetric response threshold	(40)
/0.0		×	(40)
00.0		Irritant threshold	(18)
0.17		Odour threshold	(63)
0.25		Odour threshold in 1/2 subjects	(38)
0.25-5.0		Irritant threshold	(31)
0.3-0.9		Eye irritation	.(18)
0.5		Odour threshold	(31)
8.0		Slight irritation	(40)
0.8		Odour threshold. Irritation of	(37)
		upper respiratory tract and E.C.G. changes	(99)
9.1-6.0		- 1	(20)
1.0			(19)
2.0-3.0	8 hr.	Tolerable; mild irritation of eyes, nose and posterior pharynx	(20)
4.0-5.0	10-30 min.	Intolerable to most people; mild lacrymation; very unpleasant	(20)
v			(99)
5.0		Throat irritation threshold Collapse, headache, nausea	(21)
6	\$ \$	lacrymatio	(20)

Profuse lacrymation

few min.

10.0

Reference	(66) (66) (66) (20)	(2)
	and throat	(4)
	nose and serious	(5)
8 8	of n	(6)
Responses	Lacrymation Irritation Sneezing May cause vo	(7)
		(3)
		(9)
Time		ભા દુ
Exposure	15-30 sec. 30 sec. 1-2 min. 5-10 min.	
<u>ы</u>	3 3 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	ζ'#.
mdd uc	20.0 20.0 20.0 50-100	(S.C)
Concentration ppm		

Æ

(1)

H. BIBLIOGRAPHY

- (1) CIIT. Conference on Formaldehyde Toxicity, Rayleigh, 20-21 Nov. 1980.
- (2) ECETOC. Monograph n°2. Sept. (1980). Brussels.
 "A contribution to the strategy for the identification and control of occupational carcinogens".
- (3) Akabane, J., (1970). Aldehydes and related compounds. Int. Encycl. Pharmacol. Ther., Section 20, 2:523.
- (4) Altshuller, A.P., Cohen, I.R., Meyer, M.E., and Wartburg, A.F., jr., (1961). Analysis of aliphatic aldehydes in source effluents and in the atmosphere. Anal. Chim. Acta, 25:101.
- (5) Stupfel, M., (1976). Recent advances in investigations of toxicity of automotive exhaust. Environ. Health Perspect., 17:253.
- (6) Battelle Columbus Laboratories, Columbus, Ohio., (1977). Health effects of formaldehyde. Final report to National Particle Board Association.
- (7) Kensler, C.J., and Battista, S.P., (1963). Components of cigarette smoke with ciliary-depressant activity; Their selective removal by filters containing activated charcoal granules. N. Engl. J. Med., 269:1161.
- (8) Weber-Tschopp, A., Jermini, C., and Grandjean, E., (1976). Air pollution and irritation due to cigarette smoke. Soz. Praeventivmed., 21:101.
- (9) Wanner, H.U., (1978). Hygienenische Beurteilung von Verunreinigungen der Wohnraumluft. Organische Verunreinigungen in der Umwelt, Erich Schmidt Verlag, Berlin.
- (10) Deimel, M., (1978). Erfahrungen über Formaldehyd-Raumluft-Konzentrationen in Schulneubauten. Organische Verunreinigungen in der Umwelt, Erich Schmidt Verlag, Berlin.
- (11) Gunby, Ph., (1980). Fact or fiction about formaldehyde?. JAMA, 243:1967.
- (12) Einbrodt, H.J., Prajsnar, D., Erpenbeck, J., (1976). Der Formaldehyd- und Ameisensäurespiegel im Blut und Urin beim Menschen nach Formaldehydexposition. Zentralbl. Arbeitsmed. Arbeitsschutz Prophyl., 26:154.
- (13) Triebig, G., Trautner, P., Lütjen-Drecoll, E., (1980). Untersuchung zur Abschätzung einer Formaldehydeinwirkung im Anatomischen Präpariersaal. Arbeitsmed. Sozialmed. Präventivmed., 15:264.
- (14) Knecht, U., Woitowitz, H.J., (1979). Felduntersuchungen zur belastung der Raumluft durch Formaldehyd in Kliniken und Instituten. Oeff. Gesundheitswes., 41:715.

- (15) Matanoski, G.M., (1980). Speech given at the NCI "Interagency Collaborative Group on Environmental Carcinogenesis" meeting on Feb. 6. John Hopkins University, Baltimore.
- (16) Jensen, P.M., (1980). Lancet, August 30, 480. (δε)
- (17) National Academy of Sciences. Formaldehyde An Assessment of its Health Effects. Washington, D.C., March 1980.
- (18) Bourne, H.G., Jr., and Safarian S., (1959). Formaldehyde in wrinkle-proof apparel produces... tears for milady. Ind. Med. Surg., 28:232.
- (19) Weber-Tschopp, A., Fischer, T., and Grandjean, E., (1977). Irritating effects of formaldehyde on man. Int. Arch. Occup. $(\partial \xi)$ Environ. Health, 39:207.
- (20) Fassett, D.W., (1963). Aldehydes and Acetals. In Patty, F.A., ed\(\varepsilon\)?

 Industrial Hygiene and Toxicology. 2nd rev. ed. Vol. II. New York: Interscience, 1959.
- (21) Walker, J.F., (1964). Formaldehyde. 3rd ed. New York: Reinhold. (38) (American Chemical Society Monograph Series N°159).
- (22) Garry, V.F., Oatman, L., Pleus, R., and Gray, D., (1980). Formal-dehyde in the home. Some environmental disease perspectives.

 Minn. Med., 63:107.
- (23) Anderson I., Fanger Eds., Valbjorm O & PO., (1978). Formaldehyde in the indoor environments. Health implications and the setting of standards. Indoor climate; Effects on human comfort, performance and health in residential, commercial, and light-industry buildings. Proc. of the First Internat. Indoor Climate Symposium, Copenhagen, August 30-September 1, 1978. Copenhagen: Danish Building Research Institute p.65-77. Discussion p 77-87.
- (24) Craigen, A.A., (1979). Data presented at the Massachusetts Hearing, March. Ciba-Geigy, Duxford, U.K.
- (25) Popa, V., Teculescu, D., Stanescu, D., Gavriliscu, N., (1969).
 Dis. Chest., 56, 5 November.
- (26) Formaldehyde Toxicity, (1979). Lancet, September 22, 620.
- (27) Schwartz, L., (1957). Occupational diseases of the skin. Ed. Lea & Febiger, Philadelphia.
- (28) Baer, R.L., Ramsey, D.L., Biondi, E.(1973). The most common contact allergens. Arch. Dermatol., 108:74.
- (29) Sachs, O., cited in Stude, H.C., and Reichenberger, M., (1965). Zur Frage der Häufigkeit von Sensibilisierungen gegen Formaldehy. Berufsdermatosen, 13:335.
- (30) Kline, B.S., (1925). Formaldehyde poisoning: with report of a fatal case. Arch.Intern. Med., 36:220.
- (31) NIOSH, (1978). Registry of toxic effects of chemical compounds. L.P. 8925000, US - DHEW.

- (32) Bohmer, K., (1934). Formalin poisoning. Dtsch, Z. Gesamte Gerichte Med., 23:7.
- (33) Bower, A.J., (1909). Case of poisoning by formaldehyde. JAMA., 52:1106.
- (34) Earp, S.E., (1916). The physiological and toxic action of formaldehyde with a report to three cases of poisoning by +913m formalin. N.Y. Med. J., 104:391.
- (35) Heffernon, E. W., Hajjar, J.J.A., (1964). Corrosive gastritis after formaldehyde ingestion. Lakey Clin. Found. Bull., 13:3.
- (36) Feldman, Yu.G., and Bonashevskaya, T.I., (1971). On the effects of low concentrations of formaldehyde. Hyg. Sanit.(USSR), 36:174.
- (37) Sgibner, A.K., (1968). Effect of low formaldehyde fume concentrations on humans. Gig. Tr. Prof. Zabol, 12:20. Chem. Abstr. 70. 14218.
- (38) Helwig, H., (1977). How harmless is formaldehyde. Dtsch. Med. Wochenschr., 102:1612.
- (39) Sim, M., Pattle , R.E., (1957). Effect of possible smog irritants on human subjects. JAMA., 165:1908.
- (40) Melekhina, VP., (1960-1962). Hygienic evaluation of formaldehyde as an atmospheric air pollutant USSR. Literature on air pollution and related occupational diseases. Springfield Va, US Dept. of Commerce National Technical Information Service 1964 Vol. 9, 9-17 (NTIS TT 64 11574).
- (4)53 Wayne, L.G., (1976). Irritant effects industrial chemicals:
 43754 formaldehyde.Contact n° CDC-99-74-21, Pub. N°77-117 p. 148
 July 1976. CIS Abstracts, 4(4), 77: 1034-1977.
- Kamachatnov, V., and Gayazova, S., (1971). Temperature asymmetry in workers exposed to formaldehyde vapors. Gig. Sanit., 36 (2), 286.
 - (43) Shulmilina, AV., (1975). Menstrual and child-bearing functions of female workers occupationally exposed to the effects of formaldehyde. Gig. Tr. Prof. Zabol., 12: 18.
 - (44) Neshkov, N.S., and Nosko, A.M., (1976). Effect of toxic components of fiberglass reinforced plastics on the higher nervous activity and sexual function of males. Gig. Tr. Prof. Zabol., 12: 92.
 - (45) Travenius, S.Z.M., Müller, G., Norpoth, K., Ulynee, U., (1980). Formation possibilities of halo- ethers in industrial processes. Internal Report of the Institute für Staublungenforschung und Arbeitsmedizin der Westfälischen Wilhelms-Iniversität, May.
 - (46) Frankel, L.S., McCallum, K.S., and Collier, L., (1974). Formation of bis-chloromethyl-ether from formaldehyde and hydrogen chloride Environmental Science and Technology, 8: 356.

- (47) Van der Ven, L.G., and Venema, A., (1978). BCME-formation during particle-board manufacturing and measurement of BCME in workroom-air. Internal Akzo Report and Letter, written in dutch.
- (48) Rusch, G.M. et al., May (1978). Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Industrial Hygiene Association, Los Angeles, CA.
- (49) Swenberg, J.A., Kerns, W.D., Mitchell, R.I., Gralla, E.J. and Pavkov, K.L., (1980). Induction of squamous cell carcinomas of the rat masal cavity by inhalation exposure to formaldehyde to formaldehyde vapour. Cancer Research, 40:3398.
- (50) Kuschner, M., Laskin, S., Drew, R.T., Cappielto, V. and Nelson, N., (1975). Inhalation carcinogenicity of alpha-halo-ethers. Arch. Environ. Health, 30:73.
- (51) N.I.O.S.H. September (1976). Criteria for a recommended standard: occupational exposure to formaldehyde.
- (52) Lahmann, E. and Jander, K., (1968). Formaldehyd-Bestimmungen in Strassenluft, Gesundheits-Ingenieur, 89:18.
- (53) Skare, J. and Dahlner, B., (1973). Determination of aldehydes in air. Arbete och Hälsa 6:1.
- (54) Linch, A.L., (1967). The spill-proof micro-impinger. Am. Hyg. Assoc. J., 28:497.
- (55) Baselt, R.C., (1980). Biological monitoring methods for industrial chemicals. Biomedical Publications, Davis, California.
- (56) Piotrowski, J.K., (1977). Exposure tests for organic compounds in industrial toxicology, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington D
- (57) Triebig, G., Schaller, K.H., Gossler, K., (1978). A simple and reliable gas-chromatographic determination of formic acid in urine. Fresenius Z. Anal. Chem. 290:114.
- (58) Rietbrock, N., (1965). Formaldehydoxydation bei der Ratte. Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Arch.exp. Path.u. Pharmak., 251:189.
- (59) Einbrodt, H.J., Prajsnar, D., (1978). Untersuchungen über die Belastung des Menschen durch Formaldehyd in Schul. und Wohnräumen. Organische Verunreinigungen in der Umwelt. Erich Schmidt Verlag, Berlin, 428.
- (60) Prüll, G., Einbrodt, H.J., Wewer, B., (1978). Die Hirnstromtätigkeit des Menschen vor und nach Formaldehyd-Exposition. Wissenschaft und Umwelt, 50:51.
- (61) Hachenberg, H., Schmidt, A.P., (1977). Gas chromatographic headspace analysis, Heyden, London.
- (62) Schuck, E.A., Stephens, E.R., and Middleton, J.T., (1966). Eye irritation response at low concentrations of irritants. Arch. Environ. Health, 13:570.

gnit

- (63) Ishchenco, V.N., Pushkin, I.K., (1978). Evaluation of the working conditions in the manufacture and processing of phenolformaldehyde resins. Gig. Sanit., 11:98.
- (64) Morrill, E.E., Jr., (1961). Formaldehyde exposure from paper bn. process solved by air sampling and current studies. Air Cond. Heat. Vent., 58:94.
 - (65) Ahmad, I. and Whitson, T.C., (1973). Formaldehyde: how much of a hazard? Ind. Med. Surg., 42:26.
 - Barnes, E.C., and Speicher, H.W., (1942). The determination of formaldehyde in air. J. Ind. Hyg. Toxicol., 24:10.

dard

17.7

: i :

einus

4 4

ningt:

.## 8-

ie awu: T**leg.**

I. MEMBERS OF ECETOC WORKING GROUP FORMALDEHYDE - HUMAN EXPOSURE

- I. MacIntyre, (Chairman)

- G. Almgren

- Prof. G. Armeli

- D.D. Bryson

- P. Galeau

- M.J. Stasik

- J.P. Tassignon

- W. ten Berge

Senior Occupational Physician CIBA-GEIGY (UK)

Chief Medical Officer(APME delegate)
PERSTORP (Perstorp, Sweden)

Medicine and Industrial Hygiene MONTEDISON (Milano)

Divisional Medical Officer ICI (Cleveland-UK)

Chief Medical Officer APC (Toulouse)

Dept. of Occupational Medicine HOECHST (Frankfurt-am-Main)

Counsellor, Industrial Medicine & Toxicology (delegate from CEFIC Health Protection Committee)
SOLVAY (Brussels)

Corporate Dept. for Safety and Environmental Methods D.S.M. (Heerlen)

J. MEMBERS OF ECETOC SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE

- K.W. Jager, Chairman. Head of Group Toxicology Division, SHELL (Den Haag).
- A. Rodeyns, Vice-Chairman. Coordinator, Environmental Protection and Product Safety, SOLVAY (Brussels).
- H. Zeller, Vice-Chairman. Head of Dept. Industrial Hygiene and Toxicology, BASF (Ludwigshafen).
- J. Bäckström, Consultant Toxicologist,
 ASSOCIATION OF SWEDISH CHEMICAL INDUSTRIES (Stockholm).
- B. Broecker, Coordinator, Product-related Environmental Problems, HOECHST (Frankfurt).
- L. Caillard, Direction of Industrial Toxicological and Ecotoxicological Service, RHONE-POULENC (Paris).
- H.O. Esser, Vice-Director, Agrochemie Division, CIBA-GEIGY (Basel).
- U. Korallus, Medical Director, BAYER (Leverkusen).
- R. Mattiussi, Responsible for Medicine and Industrial Hygiene, MONTEDISON (Milano)
- H.G. Nösler, Head, Coord. Centre for Consumer Safety and Environmental Protection, HENKEL (Düsseldorf).
- J.F. Newman, ICI (Jealotts Hill).
- C. de Torregrosa Navaro, Director of Medical Services, UNION EXPLOSIVOS RIO TINTO (Madrid).
- H. Verschuuren, Toxicology and Registration Dept.,
 DOW CHEMICAL (Rotterdam).
- J. Van der Harst, Head, Toxicology Division 2, SHELL (Den Haag).